IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LYNN LAUGHLIN

APPELLANT

VS.

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM **OF MISSISSIPPI**

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

GEORGE S. LUTER

MSB #

405 Tombigbee Street

Post Office Box 3656

Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3656

Telephone: (601) 948-0021

Facsimile: (601) 354-5548

GEOLAW1502@AOL.COM

Attorney for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LYNN LAUGHLIN APPELLANT

VS. NO. 2008-SA-00341

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Lynn Laughlin, files this Brief to urge the Supreme Cour to reverse the order of the Hinds County Circuit Court which affirmed the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (hereafter "PERS") entered April 20, 2004 which adopted the recommendation of the PERS Disability Appeals Committee which found "Ms. Laughlin and her husband are pleasant and we do wish them well, but we are not persuaded by the evidence that a disability is present in this forum. We therefore recommend that Ms. Laughlin's request for disability benefits be denied." (R 135, RE 139, Tab 17).

Alternatively, Laughlin would urge the Supreme Court to reverse and remand her case for a new hearing based upon the action of PERS Executive Director Frank Ready who denied Laughlin's request for a continuance to allow her to obtain all of her medical records and adequately prepare for her hearing and who directed PERS employee Sharon Roberts not to answer Laughlin's questions regarding former Medical Board member and independent medical examiner Dr. David Collipp, issues which the Circuit Court declined to address.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The decision of PERS should be reversed and rendered because it is not supported by substantial evidence since PERS refused to consider Laughlin's pain as disabling and the statements of her treating physicians and the lay opinions of her principal and fellow teacher that she was unable to perform her job.
- 2. Alternatively, Laughlin's case should be reversed and remanded for a new hearing since her due process rights to a fair hearing were violated by PERS Executive Director

Frank Ready's denial of Laughlin's request for a continuance to adequately prepare for her hearing and obtain all of her medical records.

3. Alternatively, Laughlin's case should be reversed and remanded for a new hearing since her due process rights to a fair hearing were violated by PERS Executive Director Frank Ready when he ordered PERS employee Sharon Roberts not to answer questions regarding Dr. David Collipp.

Ш.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Lynn Laughlin was employed as a teacher for the Calhoun County Schools for 10.50 years. (R 109, RE 60, Tab 16). On May 4, 1999, Memphis rheumatologist Dr. Franklin Adams reported that Laughlin had done well after a cervical disc rupture ten years ago, but in the past few months had resurfaced with pain extending down both arms and diagnosed her with probable carpal tunnel syndrome, cervical spondylosis, bilateral tmj by history, and thoracolumbar scoliosis. (R R 168, RE 5, Tab 3).

On July 23, 1999, Laughlin underwent-carpal tunnel surgery on her right hand by Memphis surgeon Dr. Dowen Snyder. (R 218, RE 11, Tab 4). Two months later, after suffering a new ruptured back disc, Laughlin underwent a cervical diskectomy and fusion on September 20, 1999 by Memphis surgeon Dr. Maurice Smith. (R 209, RE 16, Tab 5).

Dr. Adams continued to follow Laughlin for several years and reported on PERS form "Statement of Examining Physician" that Laughlin suffered from "scoliosis, spondylosis, fibromyalgia" and "patient's disability is manifest mainly by level of pain". (R 150, RE 10, Tab 3).

On January 23, 2003, Laughlin underwent a functional capacity evaluation at Cornerstone Rehabilitation which reported Laughlin reported "significant pain interference" and "shows all

the signs of doing as well as would be expected." (R 136, RE 20, Tab 6).

On March 24, 2003, Oxford orthopedic surgeon Dr. Edward Field reported that Laughlin suffered from "chronic persistent SI joint dysfunction as well as pain in the left hip and the right knee" and that he was going to send her "over to see anesthesia for blocks. I don't really have anything else to offer Lynn at this point." (R 174, RE 21, Tab 7).

On April 10, 2003, Lauglin's principal, Angie Weldon, reported on PERS form "Certification of Job Requirements" that Lauglin could not perform her job and "The school year consists of a 187 contract day that goes from July 1 to July 1 of the following year. This school year 2002-2003 Ms. Lauglin has missed 94 school contract days this school year." (R 121, RE 3, Tab 2).

On April 11, 2003, Laughlin applied for disability retirement pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(a). (R 112, RE 1, Tab 1).

On October 7, 2003, onetime PERS Medical Board member and Disability Appeals

Committee member Dr. David Collipp reported that he had performed an independent medical examination of Laughlin at PERS' request and reported that Lauglin "was capable of the work described in her paperwork..." (R 131, RE 23, Tab 8).

On November 3, 2003, PERS Executive Director Frank Ready informed Lauglin that the PERS Medical Board had determined that "there was insufficient objective evidence to support the claim that your medical condition prevents you from performing your duties as described of a Teacher." (R 240, RE 24, Tab 6).

On November 30, 2003, Laughlin was informed by the Social Security Administration that she had been found disabled beginning December 19, 2002. (R 281, RE 25, Tab 10).

Laughlin timely requested a hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee on December 29, 2003 (R 167, RE 27, Tab 11).

On January 5, 2004, PERS Executive Director Frank Ready informed Laughlin that her hearing was set for January 26, 2004 and that "...a copy of the record, for purposes of the hearing, including medical and membership information will be mailed to you prior to the hearing." (R 35, Tab 14).

On January 8, 2004, Laughlin's counsel was mailed a copy of her file and on the same day requested a continuance since he had not received a copy of the file or Dr. Collipp's report. (R 37, Tab 14).

On January 12, 2004, Executive Director Frank Ready informed counsel that the requested continuance had been approved. On January 20, 2004, Ready informed counsel that the hearing had been unilaterally reset for February 20, 2004 and that "We are unable to accommodate your request for a later hearing date." (RE 39, Tab 14).

On January 26, 2004, counsel against requested a continuance since he had "...only received her file and had not had sufficient time to determine if all of her medical files are complete." (RE 40, Tab 14).

Ready responded on January 30, 2004 and denied counsel's request for a continuance stating "You will have had the record a total of 42 days before the hearing set for February 20, 2004, This would appear to be sufficient time to review the medical records with your client." (RE 41, Tab 14).

Laughlin's hearing was held as unilaterally scheduled by PERS on February 20, 2004 before Disability Appeals Committee members Sheila Jones, presiding hearing officer, and Drs. Joseph Blackston and Mark Meeks, employees of the University of Mississippi Medical Center.

Laughlin testified at the hearing that she was a computer applications teacher that entailed teaching over a hundred students per day in a network computer lab with 21 work stations and also had up to an hour of outside duty every day in addition to ball game duties at night. She

added that she arrived at school at 7:30 a.m. and left about 3:40 p.m. (R 53-54, RE 77-78, Tab 16).

Laughlin testified she had two neck surgeries in 1999 and also had carpal tunnel surgery. She testified that after the surgery she did well but had to go straight home and go to bed due to pain in her arm and neck pain. (R 58, RE 82, Tab 16).

Laughlin added that she took many medications for sleep, pain, muscle spasms and other problems. (R 62 RE 85, Tab 16).

Laughlin testified that her job required her to lift as little as a box of computer paper or as much as a 200 pound boy off someone during a school day. (R 65, RE 89, Tab 16). She added that her last day of work was December 19, 2002 and that she did not go back to work because she got so sick with dizziness and pain that she could not work and that Dr. Adams had put her on part time work. (R 67-68, RE 91-92, Tab 16).

On direct examination by her attorney, Laughlin testified that she was 49 years old and had a laminectomy on her neck when she was 34 years old. She added that she had additional surgery in 1999 when they did a multi-level fusion, put in a plate and cleaned the disks out. She added that after the surgery the pain was 6-7 on a 10 scale. (R 83-84, RE 106-107, Tab 16).

Laughlin further testified she was diagnosed with TMJ by a dentist after Dr. Laura Gray, a physiastrist¹ referred her to him, thinking it could be the cause of pain. (R 84, RE 107, Tab 16). Laughlin testified she had an independent examination with Dr. David Collipp that lasted about 20 minutes and that she had never been diagnosed by a psychiatrist with passive aggressive narcissistic personality traits as stated by Dr. Collipp.² (R 88, RE 109, Tab 16).

Laughlin testified she did not go back to school after December 19, 2002 because she was hurting and fatigued and could not make it through the day. (R 89, RE 112, Tab 16). She further

² Dr. Collipp, like Dr. Gray, is a physiastrist, not a psychiatrist.

Dr. Gray is a physiastrist, a specialist in physical medicine and has also performed exams for PERS in past cases, but Laughlin was not given additional time to obtain her records or the dentist that treated her for TMJ.

testified as a teacher she had to stand up and "just can't sit" and that she could not stand for more than one hour without pain. (R 90, RE 113, Tab 16). Laughlin further testified that she tried to do everything she could during the FCE. (R 92-93, RE 115-116, Tab 16).

Diane Simon testified she taught with Laughlin in the last few years and that she observed her in the last two to three years to be in almost constant pain based upon a lot of time she could not move and she would cover outside duty. Simon described teaching as a "heavy duty job. Physically and mentally." (R 97, RE 120, Tab 16).

Karen Owens testified she was also a teacher and observed Laughlin and she would tell her how her neck, shoulders and hips hurt and the medicines she took. (R 98, RE 121, Tab 16). She stated that teacher often lifted desks and students when they are in a fight. (R 98, RE 121, Tab 16).

David Laughlin testified his wife already "had it rough" prior to the time she quit teaching, that she always "tried to do a lot of things and has had pain and she has to rest." (R 99, RE 122, Tab 16). He added that in December 2002 she "literally could not get out of bed."

In a recommendation dated the same day as the hearing, the Disability Appeals

Committee found "Ms. Laughlin and her husband are pleasant and we do wish them well, but we are not persuaded by the evidence that a disability is present in this forum. We therefore recommend that Ms. Laughlin's request for disability benefits be denied." (R 135, RE 139, Tab 17). The PERS Board of Trustees adopted such recommendation on April 20, 2004. (R 23, RE 141, Tab 17).

Laughlin appealed to Hinds County Circuit Court on May 14, 2004. (R 19, RE 142, Tab 18.) The record was filed by PERS with the Hinds County Circuit Clerk on September 30, 2005. The Hinds County Circuit Court affirmed the action of PERS' denying Laughlin's application for disability retirement on July 31, 2007. (R 14, RE 143, Tab 19) Laughlin timely appealed such action to the Supreme Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

PERS' decision should be reversed and rendered because Laughlin's denial of disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because Laughlin's medical disability is supported by the opinions of her treating physicians and the lay opinions of her principal and fellow teachers.

Alternatively, Laughlin's case should be reversed and remanded for a new hearing because PERS did not provide the case file to Laughlin's attorney until 42 days before the hearing and made a decision without obtaining all of her medical records.

Alternatively, Laughlin's case should be reversed and remanded for a new hearing because then PERS Executive Director Frank Ready ordered PERS' witness not to answer questions regarding the number of exams Dr. David Collipp had performed for PERS.

IV.

ARGUMENT

1. The decision of PERS should be reversed and rendered because it is not supported by substantial evidence since PERS refused to consider Laughlin pain as disabling, the statements of her treating physicians, or the lay opinions of her principal and fellow teacher that she was unable to perform her job.

The legal requirement of proving PERS disability is stated at Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(a) which states:

"...any active member in state service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the Board of Trustees... provided the Medical Board, after medical examination shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member shall be retired."

Disability is defined in the same code section as the following:

"...the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity

to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation."

Contrary to the assertions of the opinions asserted in the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee, substantial lay and medical evidence support Laughlin's contention that she could not longer perform her duties as a teacher.

Consider:

On July 23, 1999, Laughlin underwent carpal tunnel surgery on her right hand by Memphis surgeon Dr. Dowen Snyder. (R 218, RE 11, Tab 4). Two months later, after suffering a ruptured back disc, Laughlin underwent a cervical diskectomy and fusion on September 20, 1999 by Memphis surgeon Dr. Maurice Smith. (R 209, RE 16, Tab 5). Despite such serious conditions, Laughlin continued to labor as a teacher for four more years.

On April 10, 2003, Lauglin's principal, Angie Weldon, reported on PERS form "Certification of Job Requirements" that Lauglin could **not** perform her job and "The school year consists of a 187 contract day that goes from July 1 to July 1 of the following year. This school year 2002-2003 Ms. Lauglin has missed 94 school contract days this school year." (R 121, RE 3, Tab 2).

Memphis rheumatologist Dr. Franklin Adams, who followed Laughlin for several years, reported on PERS form "Statement of Examining Physician" that Laughlin suffered from "scoliosis, spondylosis, fibromyalgia" and "patient's disability is manifest mainly by level of pain". (R 150, RE 10, Tab 3).

On March 24, 2003, Oxford orthopedic surgeon Dr. Edward Field reported that Laughlin suffered from "chronic persistent SI joint dysfunction as well as pain in the left hip and the right knee" and that he was going to send her "over to see anesthesia for blocks. I don't really have

anything else to offer Lynn at this point." (R 174, RE 21, Tab 7).

On January 23, 2003, Laughlin underwent a functional capacity evaluation at Cornerstone Rehabilitation which reported Laughlin reported "significant pain interference" and "shows all the signs of doing as well as would be expected." (R 136, RE 20, Tab 6).

On November 30, 2003, Laughlin was informed by the Social Security Administration that she had been found disabled beginning December 19, 2002. (R 281, RE 25, Tab 10).

Lay witnesses such as fellow teachers Diane Simon and Karen Owens testified they taught with Laughlin in the last few years and they observed her in the last two to three years to be in almost constant pain based upon a lot of time she could not move and Simon or Owens would cover outside duty. Simon described teaching as a "heavy duty job. Physically and mentally." (R 97, RE 120, Tab 16).

Laughlin would assert that all of the available medical evidence available to the Disability Appeals Committee at the time of her hearing's support her contention that she met the statutory definition of PERS disability which is merely inability to perform the specific job you had:

"...the inability to perform the usual duties of employment..."

The law is clear in Mississippi that the decision of an administrative agency must be undisturbed unless it is (1) not supported by substantial evidence, (2) is arbitrary and capricious, (3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, (4) violates one's constitutional rights. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez.* 774 So. 2d 421 (Miss. 2001); *Fulce v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 759 So. 2d 401, 404 (Miss. 2000); *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 750 So. 2d 1225, 1229 (Miss. 1999).

Additionally, the circuit court is "charged with the duty to review the record to determine whether there is substantial evidence...to reach a conclusion, a Circuit Court must look at the full record before it... while the Circuit Court performs limited appellate review, it is not relegated to

³ Laughlin testified she had additional medical information but PERS Executive Director Frank Ready refused to allow her a continuance to obtain such information.

wearing blinders." Mississippi State Board of Examiners. v. Anderson, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1084 (Miss. App. 2000).

A review of the Disability Appeals Committee's recommendation reveals that the Committee "focused on the records of Dr. Adams, Dr. Field and Dr. Collipp" and then drew conclusions not supported by the evidence.

First the Committee attempts to dismiss Laughlin's complaints of pain by stating that Dr. Adams, a Memphis rheumatologist of The Arthritis Group, who followed Laughlin several years, found Laughlin to be "high strung and compulsive." (R 33, RE 137, Tab 17). While Dr. Adams did note such in his records and such would certainly be not unexpected for someone like Laughlin who continued to be in severe pain, he noted in August 2000---two years before Laughlin quit work the following:

"Patient continues to have a great deal of pain. It seems to be very genuine and quite significant. She's had 2 or 3 neck operations with effusion and is a good candidate for problems. She's taking Vioxx now with only minimal benefits. Will increase the dosing.

Recommend that she get in touch with pain clinic and make arrangements for her to see Dr. Kraus for his expertise." (R 164, RE 7, Tab 17).

In November 2000, Dr. Adams noted Laughlin was still in a "great deal of pain" and noted he tended to "favor a diagnosis of fibromyalgia and scoliosis combined" and suggested Laughlin consider a "pain clinic".

Second, the Committee erred by finding that "there is nothing in the record from Dr. Adams that states Ms. Laughlin is medically disabled." (R 33, RE 137, Tab 17). Rather, Dr. Adams reports that Laughlin's "disability is manifest mainly by the level of pain." (R 150, RE 10, Tab 3). Amazingly, the Committee dismisses pain as disabling by stating cavalierly, "Pain, unfortunately, cannot be measured objectively and without some type of objective evidence, this Committee does not have the latitude to award disability." (R 34, RE 138, Tab 17).

Numerous federal decisions exist that state disability can be based upon pain when it is

'constant, unremitting, and wholly unresponsive to therapeutic treatment.' *Selders v. Sullivan*, 914 F. 2d 614 (5th Cir. 1990). The fact that Oxford orthopedic surgeon Dr. Edward Field reported that Laughlin suffered from "chronic persistent SI joint dysfunction as well as pain in the left hip and the right knee" and that he was going to send her "over to see anesthesia for blocks. I don't really have anything else to offer Lynn at this point" is overwhelming credible evidence of the disabling pain Laughlin suffered that was 'constant, unremitting, and wholly unresponsive to therapeutic treatment.' (R 174, RE 21, Tab 7). Even more indicative of Laughlin's disabling pain is the voluminous prescription drug record of Laughlin detailing her need for prescription pain killers since 1996. (R 284-299, RE 44-59. Tab 15).

Still, despite such overwhelming evidence of disabling pain with objective reasoning given by her treating physicians, the PERS Disability Appeals Committee erroneously refused to consider such disabling pain by stating "This Committee cannot award disability based on pain when there is symptom magnification and possibly some type of psychiatric component at play."

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