IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LYNN LAUGHLIN

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-SA-00341

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT
SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

APPELLEE

SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Mary Margaret Bowers
Special Assistant Attorney General
Public Employees' Retirement System
429 Mississippi Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005
Telephone: (601) 359-3592
(601) 359-3680
Fax. No. (601) 359-2285
Mississippi Bar No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LYNN LAUGHLIN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-SA-00341

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice limits review by the Circuit Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was

beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Laughlin. This standard is also applied by this Court when reviewing the decision of the Circuit Court. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dean*, 983 So.2d 335, (Miss. App. 2008); *Case v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 973 So.2d 301, 310 (Miss. App. 2008); *Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 940 So. 2d 945, 948 (Miss. App. 2006); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps*, 898 So. 2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith*, 880 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson*, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. 2004); *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); *Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 774 So. 2d 434, 437 (Miss. 2000); *Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 706 So. 2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998).

A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d at 948; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d at 350; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So. 2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App. 2005). In Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi

Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d 605, 609 (Miss. App. 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Ms. Laughlin has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file with the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the fact-finding process substantial deference when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to reevaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. [Emphasis added] 839 So. 2d 609.

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1287, this Honorable Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the

PERS Board of Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So. 2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So. 2d. 898 (Miss. 1995). As stated by this Court in Davidson, "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So. 2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Ms. Laughlin. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259; Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996); Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F.2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray, the Supreme Court held:

A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253. [Emphasis added]

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 893, this Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of proving to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003), this Court citing Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 808 So. 2d 902, 905

(Miss. 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Also See: *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt*, 919 So. 2d 1150, 1156. (Miss. App. 2005)

The Circuit Court correctly held that the Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious nor violated any statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Laughlin and, thus, the Memorandum Opinion and Order of the Circuit Court entered August 2, 2007 must be affirmed.

I.

THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES DENYING MS. LAUGHLIN'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

"Unless PERS' order was not supported by substantial evidence, or was arbitrary or capricious, the reviewing court should not disturb its conclusions." *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005). Upon close reading of the record presently before this Honorable Court, it is evident that the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees upheld by the Circuit Court is based upon substantial evidence. Substantial evidence has been defined as "evidence which affords an adequate basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be reasonably inferred." *Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System 940* So. 2d at 948; *Public Employees' Retirement System*, 400 So. 2d at 1285; *Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System*,

750 So. 2d 1225, 1233 (Miss. 1999). This Court has further defined substantial evidence as evidence that is "more than a scintilla; it must do more than create a suspicion, especially where the proof must show bad faith." *Mississippi State Board of Examiners for Social Workers and Marriage and Family Therapists v. Anderson*, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1086 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Mississippi Real Estate Commission v. Ryan*, 248 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1971) (citing 2 Am. Jur. 2d *Administrative Law* § 688 (1962)). Also see, *Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1285. Upon review of the record, including the findings of the Disability Appeals Committee and its thorough analysis of the medical documentation and testimony offered at the hearing and the analysis of the medical evidence by the Circuit Court, this Court will see that there is "more than a scintilla" of evidence to support PERS' decision to deny disability benefits.

The Committee provided an extensive review of the documentation offered in support of Ms. Laughlin's claim as evidenced in its most thorough findings of fact. The Committee then went on to provide a thorough analysis of the evidence and testimony in the record and certainly provided the Board of Trustees, the Circuit Court and now this Honorable Court with a more than adequate basis for their recommendation that disability benefits be denied and their decision be upheld.

Ms. Laughlin finds the rationale and conclusions reached by PERS in denying her benefits to be insufficient. The Committee provided an extensive review of the documentation offered in support of Ms. Laughlin's claim as evidenced in its most thorough findings of fact. The Committee then went on to provide a thorough analysis of the evidence and testimony in the record and certainly provided the Board of Trustees,

the Circuit Court now this Honorable Court, with the basis for their recommendation that disability benefits be denied.

Counsel for Ms. Laughlin notes that she had surgery in 1999 and "continued to labor as a teacher for four more years." (Apellant's Brief at page 8). The fact that she was able to continue in her position for fours years after surgery refutes any contention that the surgery may have resulted in disability. The Committee took the surgeries into consideration as set forth in its summary of medical evidence.

Just as Ms. Laughlin comments on Dr. Adam's findings so did the Committee. Dr. Adams is a rheumatologist and the Committee after its summary of Ms. Laughlin's visits to Dr. Adams noted that he found she suffered from "scoliosis, spondylosis and fibromyalgia and that her disability is manifest mainly by her level of pain". (Vol. II, R. 29.) In its analysis of what Dr. Adams found Ms. Laughlin to be suffering from, the Committee concludes "there is nothing in the record from Dr. Adams that states Ms. Laughlin is medically disabled". (Vol. II, R. 33.) The Circuit Court also reviewed the records of Dr. Adams as noted in its opinion.

With regard to Dr. Field, the Committee found that Dr. Field determined Ms. Laughlin did not have a spine problem but does have arthritis. Again, they noted that Dr. Field found she has mild to moderate scoliosis. As noted by Ms. Laughlin she did have a Functional Capacity Evaluation (FCE) which is a procedure that measures your physical capabilities of performing certain tasks. The Committee stated that after the FCE "it was noted that she could perform the acts of her employment, and Dr. Field released Ms. Laughlin without limitations". (Vol. II, R. 34.) The Circuit Court references the FCE and quoted Mr. Brick's comments that Ms. Laughlin "actually is very mobile and agile."

PERS has the duty to determine which of the physicians' assessments and other documentation it should rely on in making a determination. As noted in *Howard*, "determining whether an individual is permanently disabled is better left to physicians, not Judges. This is the idea behind the creation and expansion of administrative agencies." Several physicians reviewed Ms. Laughlin's application and medical documents. It is further within PERS discretion to determine which documents garner more weight than others. *Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 774 So.2d 434, 438 (Miss. 2000) Also see: Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d at 948 This is exactly what the Medical Board, Disability Appeals Committee and PERS Board of Trustees did in this case and as recognized by the Circuit Court.

Miss. Code Ann. § 25-11-113(1) (a) (Supp. 2007) sets forth the method by which the Medical Board is initially to determine if disability is present:

The inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation. The employer shall be required to furnish the job description and duties of the member.

Following an appeal to the Disability Appeals Committee they reviewed the documentation provided by each of Ms. Laughlin's physicians in reaching their conclusion that she was not entitled to disability benefits as set forth under the laws governing the administration of the PERS' disability program.

It is well documented in the medical evidence presented by Ms. Laughlin, or lack thereof, that she is not disabled as that term is defined in the law governing the administration of the Retirement System. As the Court of Appeals stated in *Purnell v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 894 So. 2d 597, 602 (Miss. App. 2004) that although there was some evidence suggesting Ms. Purnell suffered from physical and mental difficulties "substantial evidence also suggested that there was no distinguished reason for pain or any notion of the permanence of Purnell's maladies".

The Disability Appeals Committee presented a lengthy and well-reasoned recommendation to the Board of Trustees. The Committee, in making its recommendation, did not make a hasty decision in determining that Ms. Laughlin was not qualified for disability benefits. Instead, the Committee evaluated all of the medical evidence made available to them and their decision was therefore supported by substantial evidence. The Committee does look for objective evidence to support a claim of disability. There has to be a disabling condition that causes pain.

Ms. Laughlin states that there are numerous federal decisions that state that disability can be based upon pain and cites solely to the case of *Selders v. Sullivan*, 914 F. 2d 614 (5th Cir. 1990) This case has no application in this forum as it is a case involving a claim brought under the Social Security Administration. Ms. Laughlin states that because of the opinions of her physicians and "considering the award of social security" she is entitled to disability from the state. However, in order to receive a disability benefit from the State of Mississippi Ms. Laughlin would have to satisfy the requirements for disability under the statutory provisions governing the administration of the disability program offered by the State of Mississippi. Specific statutory law, Miss

Code Ann. §§ 25-11-113 and 25-11-114, relate to disability retirement from the Public Employees' Retirement System. Further, PERS Regulations provide the manner in which disability cases proceed before its Board of Trustees. In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d 888, 895 (Miss. 2001) this Court stated, "There is no authority requiring PERS to substitute their opinion for that of the Social Security or the A.L.J." It is clear that there is no requirement that the same standards utilized by the Social Security Administration be applied to a claim for disability from the State of Mississippi

Ms. Laughlin refers to the statements from lay individuals regarding her claim for disability. However, in *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d at 894 the Court noted that "PERS convincingly argues that the opinion of a lay person should not be taken as conclusive evidence of disability."

Ms. Laughlin asks that this Court reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and order that benefits be paid with prejudgment interest. First, this position was not asserted before the administrative body, and, thus, can not be asserted here. A matter not raised at the lower level is waived for purposes of appeal. Although the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed, assuming arguendo it was not, Ms. Laughlin would only be entitled to her past due benefits and not prejudgment interest.

The matter before this Court is purely an appeal of the Circuit Court's decision to uphold an administrative decision and not a civil suit wherein a money judgment was entered which may call for the entry of prejudgment interest pursuant to statutory authority i.e. Miss. Code Ann. § 75-17-7 (Rev. 2000). Interest has never been allowed in any case similar to this wherein the basis for the appeal was whether the administrative

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